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the STA TE OE NEW HAMPSHIRE

T  DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTA TION
DrpHrtmenl ofTmnnportalion

David Rodrigue, P.E.
William Cass, P.E. Asmlarn Commissioner
Commissioner a ^ d ■ ^ , • .rcAn-yan^Ti

Andre Bnere, Colonel, USAF (RET)

Deputy Commissioner

Bureau of Rail & Transit

October 2, 2023

His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

State House

Concord, NH 03301

REOlJESTEl) ACTION

Authorize the New Hampshire Department of Transportation (NHDOT) to pay an amount not to exceed
$332,330 to Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc. (Vendor 177203), Concord,
NH, to provide a portion of the non-federal funds required to match Federal Transit Administration (FTA)
operating, effective upon Governor and Executive Council approval through June 30, 2025. 100% State
General Funds.

Funding is available as follows for SFY 2024 and SFY 2025, with the ability to adjust encumbrances
between State Fiscal Years through the Budget Office, if needed and justified.

04-96-96-964010-2916 SFY 2024 SFY 2025

Public Transportation
073-509074 Grant Non-Federal $ 166,165 $ 166,165

EXPLANATION

CAPBMCl is a private, non-profit organization that provides rural public transportation, including
transportation for seniors and individuals with disabilities, in Concord as Concord Area Transit (CAT).

The Department's approved SFY 2024 and SFY 2025 operating budget includes $2,283,289 of state
general funds to assist 10 public transit systems with matching FTA Section 5311 Rural Area Formula
operating funds over the biennium; the FTA-funded contracts for this period have already been approved
by Governor and Council. An annual base funding amount was allocated to each system resulting from
tiered levels of public transit ridership and additional funding was provided based on incremental non-
federal matching funds each system needed to access increased FTA operating funds apportioned under
the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL).

The recipient transit agencies and the New Hampshire Transit Association were consulted as part of this
multi-step allocation effort and it was realized that the rural public transit operators, as a whole, needed
incremental matching funds to access BIL funding in both years, whereas the urban public transit providers
did not need additional matching funds to leverage BIL funding until SFY 2025. As such, budgeted state
operating match funds have been programmed in the amount of $602,494 for SFY 2024 and $1,680,793 in
SFY 2025, totaling $2,283,287 for the biennium, in accordance with the following distribution table:

JOHN 0. MORTON BUILDING • 7 HAZEN DRIVE • P.O. BOX 483 • CONCORD, NEW HAMPSHIRE 03302-0483

TELEPHONE: (603) 271-3734 • FAX: (603) 271-3914 • TDD: RELAY NH 1-800-735-2964 •WWW.NHDOT.COM



Advance Transit Rural $166,165 $166,165 $332,330

BMCAP-Concord Area Transit Rural $166,165 $ 166,165 $332,330

COAST Urban $32,000 $389,127 $421,127

Manchester Transit Authority (including CART) Urban $40,000 $493,633 $533,633

City oFNashua (Nashua Transit System) Urban $32,000 $299,539 $331,539

Southwestern Community Services Rural $41,541 $41,54 $83,082

TCCAP Carroll County Transit Rural $41,54: $41,541 $83,082

TCCAP North Country Transit Rural $41,541 $41,54 $83,082

VNA @ HCS Keene City Express Rural $41,541 $41,54

Total ridership distribution $602,494 $1,680,793

$83,082

$2,283,287

The eight agencies operating NH's 10 public transit systems are listed in the table above and separate
contracts for each agency will be submitted to Governor and Executive Council for approval. The state
operating match funds will assist these agencies in meeting the non-federal matching requirements of
50% for operating expenses.

The Agreement has been approved by the Attorney General as to form and execution and the
Department has verified that the necessary funds are available. Copies of the fully executed contract
will be on file at the Secretary of State's Office and the Department of Administrative Services and will
be on file at the Department of Transportation subsequent to Governor and Executive Council approval.

Your approval of this contract is respectfully requested.

Sincerely,

William J. Cass, P.E.

Commissioner

Attachments



FORM NUMBER G-I (version 11/2021)

SubjecC SFY 2024-2025 State Operating Match

GRANT AGREEMENT

The Slate of New Hampshire and the Grantee hereby
Munjally agree as follows:

GENERAL PROVISIONS

I. Identification and Definitions.

1 . 1. State Agency Name

NH Department of Transportation

1.2. State Agency Address

PO Box 483 & Hazen Or. Concord, NH
03302-0483

1.3. Grantee Name

Community Action Program Beiknap-Merrimack
Counties, Inc.

1 .4, Grantee Address

2 Industrial Park Drive PO Box 1016,
Concord. NH 03302-1016

1.5 Grantee Phone #

603-225-3295

1.6. Account Number

04-96-96-964010-2916-073

-509074

1.7. Completion Dale

June 30. 2025

1 ,8. Grant Limitation

S 332,330.00

1.9. Grant Officer for State Agency

Frederick Butler, Public Transportation Administrator,
Bureau of Rail & Transit

1.10. State Agency Telephone Number

603-271-2565

[f Grantee is a municipality or village district: "By signing this form we certify that we have complied with
any public meeting requirement for acceptance of this grant, including if applicable RSA 3l:95-b."

'-kl 1. Grantee Signaiifrc.jl

-^Q/A/KJLI IQC\Kj Date: 9/26/2023
1.12. Name & Title of Grantee Signor 1

Jeanne Agri, Chief Executive Officer

c/rlintee Signature 2 M
N/A

Name & Title of Grantee Signor 2

N/A

Grantee Signature 3

N/A

Name & Title of Grantee Signor 3

N/A

1.13 Slate Agency Signaturc(s) 1.14. Name & Title of State Agency Signor(s)

Directornf AMnnatihV* RntI

1. Approval by Attorney General (Form, Substance and Execution) (if G & C approval required)

By: 7\ssisianl Attorney General, On:

1.16, Approval byTiovernor and Council (if applicable)

By: On: .

2. SCOPE OF WORK: In exchange for grant funds provided by the State ofNew Hampshire, acting
through the Agency identified in block 1.1 (hereinafter referred to as "the State"), the Grantee identified in
block 1.3 (hereinafter referred to as "the Grantee"), shall perform that work identified and more particularly
described in the scope of work attached hereto as EXHIBIT B (the scope of work being hereinafter referred to
as "the Project").
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3. ARKA COX'KUiiH). Exccpi as o{hcrwisc spccilicolly provided for herein, ihc
Grantee shall peri'onit the Projcci in. and with respect to, tlic State of New
Hampshire. 9.2.

4. Eh-l'ECnVK DA l i-:: COiMPLKTlON Oh' fRO.IRCT.

4.1. This Agrceincnl. and all obligations of the parties hcrcunder. .shali hecotnc
effective on the date on the date of approval of diis Agfecment by the Governor
and Council of the State of New ilaiiipsliirc if required (block 1.16). or upon 9.3.
signature by the State .Agency as shown in block 1.14 ("the Effective Date").

•1.2. E.vccpt as otherwise specifically provided herein, the Project, including all reports 9.4.
tequired by ihi.s Agreement, shall be completed in ITS entirety prior to the date in
block 1.7 (hereinafter referred to as "the Completion Date").

5. GRANT AMOUNT: UMITaTION ON A.MOUNT: VOUCHKRS:

PAVMENT.

5.1. Tlie Grant Amount is identified and more panicularly described in EXHIBIT C. 9,5,
attached hereto.

5.2. The manner of, and schedule of payment shall be as .set forth in EXHIBIT C 10.
5.3. In accordance with the provisions set forth in EXHIBIT C, and in consideration

of Ihc .satisfactory pcrfonnancc of the Project, as detennincd by the State, and as
limited by subparagraph 5.5 of these general provisions, the State shall pay the
Grantee the Grant Amoiini. The State shall withhold from the amount oihcrwi.se

payable to the Grantee under this subparagraph 5.3 those stuns required, or
permitted, to 6c withheld pursuant to N.H. RSA S0;7 through 7-e

5.4. The payment by the State of the Gtant amoimt shall be the only, and the complete
payment to the Grantee fur all expenses, of whatever nature, incurred by the
Grantee in the pcrtbrmancc hereof, and shall be the only, and the complete. II.
eoinpcn.saiion to the Grantee for the Pmjcci. The State, shall liavc no liabilities to I I I.
the Grantee other than the Grant Amount.

5-5. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, and notwithstanding i I. I.I
unexpected circumstances, in no event shall the total uf all piiyinenis auihurized. 11.1.2
or actually made, hcrcunder exceed the Grant limitation set forth in block 1.8 of 11.1.3
thc.sc general prti\'isit>ns. 11.1.4

6. COMI'I.IANCK HV GRANTF.K WITH LAWS AND RKGUI.ATIONS In 11,2.

connection with the pcrfonnancc of the Project, the Grantee shall comply with all
statutes, laws regulations, and orders of federal, slate, county, ot municipal I t.2.1
authorities which shall impo.sc any obligations or duty upon the Grantee, including
the acquisition of any and all necessary pcrmit-s and RSA 3 l-9S-b.

RKCQRDS and ACCOUNTS.

Between the Effective Date and the date seven (7) yca.'s after the Completion
Date, unless otherwise required by the grant terms or the Agency, the Grantee 11.2.2
shall keep detailed accounts of all expenses incurred in connection with the
rmjeci, incituling. hut not limited ir>, co.sl;: of adiuinir.tration, Cranf.portalinn.
insurance, telephone calls, and clencal materials and services, Such accounts
shall be supported by receipts, invoices, bills and other simil.tr documcni.s.
Between the Effective Date and the date seven (7) years after the Completion 11.2.3
Date, unless otherwise required by the grant terms or the Agency pursuant to
.subparagraph 7,1. at any time during the Grantee'.s nonnal business hours, and us I i,2.4
often a.s the State shall demand, the Grantee shall make available to the State all

records pertaining to matters covered by this Agreement. Tlic Grantee shall li.
permit the State to audit, examine, and reproduce such records, and to make audits 12.1.
of all contracts, invoices, materials, payrolls, records of personnel, data (as (hat
icmi is hcrcinaiftcr defined), and other infonnation relating to all matters covered
by this Agrcciiicnu. ASjUSctl in duS|Paragraphiy^Grwiitx:X in^ all persons,
natural or'fictiona!, aTfiliatcti witk,"c6niT6lIcd^by,''oV^undcV'common ownership
with, the entity identified as the Grantee in block 1.3 of these provision.?

8. PER.SONNFI- 12.2.

S. I. The Grantee shall, at its own expense, provide ail personnel necessary to per form
the Project. The Grantee warrnnts that nil personnel engaged in the Prnjcct shall
be quaiiiled to perform such Project, and shall be properly licensed and authorized
to perform such Project under all applicable laws. 12,3.

8.2. The Grantee shall not hire, and it shall not permit any subcontractor, subgrantce,
or other person, firm or corporation with whom it is engaged in a combined clTort
to perform the Project, to hire any person who has a contractual relationship with
the Stale, or who is a State officer or employee, elected or appointed.

5.3. The Gra.nt OtTiccr shall be the representative of the State hcrcunder. Inthcevcni 12.4.
of any dispute hcrcunder, the interpretation of this Agfccmcnt by the Gram
OITiccr, and his/her decision on any dispute, shall be final. 13.

9. DATA: RETF.NTION OF DATA: ACCKSS.

9.1. A.s used in this Agreement, the word "data'" shall mean all informniion and things
developed or obtained during the performance of. or acquired or developed by
rca.son of, this Agreement, including, but not limited to, all studies, reports, files,
fonnulac. $un,'c>'S, maps, charts, sound recordings, video recordings, pictorial
reproductions, drawings, analyse.?, graphic representations,

7.

7,1.

7.2.

computer progranr.?, computer priniouts, note.?, letters, memoranda, paper, and
documents, all whether finished or unfinished.

Between the Effective Date and the Completion Date the Grantee shall grant to
the State, or any person designated by it, unrestricted access to all data
examination, duplication, publication, translation, sale. di.?pns:il, or for any c
purpose what.socvcr.
No data shall be .subject to copyright in the United States or any other country by
anyone other than the State.
On and after ihc Effective Date all data, and any property whjch has been received
from the Slate or purchasetl with fttnds provided for that purpose under this
Agfccmcnt, shall be the property of the State, and shall be returned to the State
upon demand or upon termination of this Agreement foi any reason, whichcvei
shall first occur.

Tlie Stale, and anyone it shall designate, shall have unrestricted authority to
publish, disclose, distribute and otherwise use, in whole or in pun, all data.
rON'nrnONAI. nature HR aGRF.F.MKNT. Nonvithsiantlingonylhtngin
this Agreement to Ihc contrary, all obligations of the State hcrcunder, including,
without limitation, the coniimiancc of payments hcrcunder, arc contingent upon
the availability or continued appropriation of funds, and in no event .shall the State
be liable fur any payments hcrcunder in excess of such available or appropriated
funds. In the event of a reduction or tcnnination of those funds, the S'ace .shall

have (he right to withhold payment until such funds become available, ifever, and
shall have the right to terminate this Agreement immediately upon giving the
Grantee notice of such termination.

EVENT QF DEFAULT: RF.MRDIF.S.

Any one or more of Ihc foitow'ing acts or oini.ssions of the Grantee shiill constitute
an event ofdcfauU hcrcunder (hereinafter referred lu as " Events of Default"):
Kailurc to perform the Project satisfactorily or on schedule; or
Failure to submit any reiwrt required hcrcunder; ur
Failure to maintain, or permit access to. the records required hcrcunder: ur
Failure to pcrfonn any of the other covenants and conditions of this Agreement.
Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the State may take any one. or more,
or all, of (he following actions:
Give the Grantee u written notice specifying the Event of Default and requiring it
to be remedied within, in the absence of a greater or lesser specification of time,
thirty (30) days from the date of the notice: and if the Event of Default is not
timely remedied, tcnninaic this Agreement, cfTcctive two (2) day? after giving the
Grantee notice of termination; and

Give the Cramec a wiiiicn notice specifying the Event of Default and su-spcn ' "
ail payments to be made under this Agreement and ordering that the portion •
Grant Amount which would othcrwbe accrue to the Gmnlec during the pct.wo
frotn the date of .?uch notice until such time as the State dctcmtines that the

Grantee ha.? cured the Event of Default shall never be paid to the Grantee; and
Set offagainsi any other obligation the Slate may owe to (he Grantee any damages
(he State suffers by reason of any Event of Default; and
Treat the agreement as breached and pursue any of its remedies at law or in equity,
or both.

TERiMlN.ATlON.

In the event of any early tcnnination of this Agreement for any reason other than
the completion of the Project, the Grantee shall deliver to ihc Gram Officer, not
later than fificen (15) days after the date of temiinaiion, a rcpon (hereinafter
referred to as the " Tcnninalion Report") describing in detail all Project Work
performed, and the Grant Amount earned, to and including the date uf icnuiiiacion.
In the event uf Tcnnination under paragraphs 10 or 12.4 of ihc.sc general
provisions, the approval of such a Termination Report by the Slate shall entitle
the Grantee to receive that purtion of the Grant amtxmt earned to and including
the date of termination

In the event of Tcnnination under paragraphs 10 or 12.4 of the.?e general
provisions, the approval of such a TciTninHlion Report by the State shall in no
event relieve the Grantee from any and all liability for damages sustained or
incuncd by the State as a result of the Grantee's breach of its obligations
hcrcunder,

Nutwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, cither the State or.
except where notice default has been given to the Grantee hcrcunder. the Grantee,
may terminate this Agreement without cause upon thirty (30) days written notice..
CONFLICT OF INTEREST. No ofTiccr. member of employee of the Grantee,
and no representative, oftlccr or employee of the State of New Hampshire or of
the governing body of the locality or localities in which the Project is to be
pcffonnud, who exercises any ftmciions or responsibilities in the review or
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14.

15.

16.

17.

17.1

17.1.2

approvui of the iinderiaking or carrying oui of such Projcci. shall paiiieipaic in 17.2.
any decision relating to this Agreement which affects his or her pcr.sonal interest
01 the interest of any coiporalion. partnership, or association in which he oi she
is directly or indirectly interested, nor shall he or she have any personal or
pccuniiiry inlcresi, direct or indirect, in thi.s Agreement or the proceeds thereof.
GRAiS'TKEl'S KKLaTION T(") 'I'Mli'. STATK. In the performance of this
.Agreement the Cirantec, its employees, and any subcontractor or subgrantcc of 18.
the Grantee arc in alt lespccts independent contractors, and are neither agcnus
nor employees of the Stale. Neither the Grantee nor any of its officers,
cntpioycc.s, agents, members, subconlroctore or suhgraniecs. shall have niitbority
to bind the State nor arc they entitled to any nf the benefits, workmen's
compensation or emoluments provided by the State to its employees.
AS.SK;N:MK.iNT and SURCONTlGXCrS. The Grantee shall not assign. Of 19.
otherwise trnn.sfcr any interest in this Agreement without lite prior wniicn
consent of the State. None of the Project Work shall be subconinictetl or
subgranted by the Grantee other than a.s set forth in Exhibit B without the prior
written consent of the Stale. 20.

INDKMNIFICaTION, The Grantee s'nall defend, indemnify and hold
haniile.ss the State, its officers and employees, from and against any and ail
losses suffered by the Slate, its officers and employees, and any and all claims,
liabilities or penalties asserted against the State, its officers and employees, by 21.
or on behalf of any person, on acci>unt of. based on. resulting from, arising out
of (or which may be claimed to arise out oQ the acts or omissions of the Grantee
or subcontractor, or subgrantcc or other agent of ilic Graniec, Notwithstanding
the foregoing, nothing herein contained shall he deemed to constitute a waiver
of ihc .sovereign immunity of the State, which immunity is hereby rcscrvcrl to
the Slate. Tliis covenant shall survive the tcnninaiion of this agreement. 22.
INSURANCE.

'fhe Grantee shall, at its ow-n e.xpcnse. obtain and inainiain in force, or shall 23.
require any subcontractor, subgrantcc or assignee perromiing Project work to
obtain and maintain in force, both for the benefit of the State, the following
insurance:

SiBtuiory workers' conipcnsatioo and employees liability insurance for all 24.
employees engaged in the performance of the Project, and
General liability insurance against all claims of bodily injuries, death or property
damage, in amounts not less than SI.000,000 per occurrence and S2.000.000
aggregate for bodily injury or death any one incident, and SSOO.OOO for property
daiiuge In any one Incident; and

The policies described in subparagraph 17.1 of this paragraph .shall be the standard
form employed in the State of New Hampshire, issued by underwriters acceptable
to the State, and authorized to do business in the State of New Hamp.«hitc. Grantee
shall fiimish to the State, certificates of insurance for all rencwalfs) of insurance
required under this Agreement no later than ten (10) days prior to the expiration
date of each insurance policy.
WAIVKR OF RRKACH. No failure by the State to enforce any provisions
hcrcofaftcrany fivcni of Default .shall be deemed a waiver of its rights with icgard
to that Event, or any subsequent Event. No express waiver of any Event of Default
.shall be deemed a waiver of any pfovi.sion.s hereof. No such failure of waiver
shall be deemed a waiver of the right of the State to enforce each and all of the
provisions hereof upon any further or other default on the part of the Grantee.
NOTICE. Any notice by a party hereto to the other party shall be ticctncd to have
been duly delivered or given at the time of mailing by certified mail, postage
prepaid, in a United Slates Post Office addressed to the panics at the addre.sses
first above given.
AiMEN'DMKNT. This .Agreement may be amended, waived or tlischargcd only
by an instrument in wTiiing signed by the parties hereto and only afler approval uf
such amendment, waiver or discharge by the Governor and Council of the Slate
of New Hamp.shire. if required or by the signing State Agency.
CONSTRUCTION OF AGREEMENT AND TKRM.S. Ihis Agrecntcnt shall
be construed in accordance with the law of (he Slate of New Hampshire, and is
binding upon and inures to the benefit of (he parties and their respective successors
and assignees. The captions and contents of the "subject" blank arc used only as
a matter of convenience, and arc not to bo considered a part of this Agreement or
to be used in dcicnnining the intend of the parties hereto.
TtURl) PARTH-IS. I'he parties hereto du not intend to benefit any tliird parties

and this Agreement shall not be construed to confer any such benefit.
KNTIRFi ACtRKKiMENT. This Agreement, which may be c.xccuitd in a number
of countctparts. each of which shall be deemed an original, constitutes the entire
agreement and understanding between the panics, and .supersedes all prior
agreements and understandings relating hereto.
SPECIAL PROVISIONS. The additional or modiiying provisions set fonh in
E.xhibit A hereto arc incorporated as pan of this agreement.

Page 3 of 3
Contractor Intials WM*

Date 22ScZ3k3



CO!VCVnJN[TY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP-MERRIMACK COUNTIES,
INC.

EXHIBITS TO CONTRACT

EXHIBIT A Special Provisions

EXHIBIT B Scope of'Services

EXHIBIT C Budget

Certificate of Good Standing

Certificate of Corporate Vote

Certificate of Insurance

Social Service Documents to Include:

501 (c)
Financial Report
Board of Directors

Key Personnel and Salaries
Resumes



K'.-vi'^n'd 6' 2023

COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP-MERRIMACK COUNTIES, INC.

EXHIBIT A

SPECIAL PROVISIONS

There are no modifications, deletions, or additions to the General Provisions in Form 0-1.



COiVIMXTNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP AND MERRIiMACK COUNTIES, INC.
EXHIBIT B

SCOPE OF SERVICES

B.l Communiry Action Program Belknap and Merrimack Counties, Inc., (hereinafter the
"Grantee") shall follow the terms and conditions applicable to State Operating Match funds;

1 .1 State funds shall be used to provide a portion of the non-federal funds required to match
Federal Transit Administration (FTA) operating funds for public transportation
services provided by the Grantee, which are further detailed on the Grantee's website.

1.2 State Operating Match flinds will be provided by the State as shown in Exhibit C.



COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP AND MERRIMACK COUNTIES, INC.
EXHIBIT B

BUDGET

C.I The Grant Limitation, as defined in Section 1.8 of the Grant Agreement, are respective of
Slate Operating Match funds and is granted as follows:

State Operating Match FV 2024 FY 2025

CommunitY Action Program Belknap-Merrimack County $166,165 $166,165

Total Two-Vear State Operating Match $332,330

I . I Funds are contingent upon State appropriations.

C.2 Reimbursement of Stale Operating Match shall be requested via monthly invoices until
Operating Funds are fully expended.

C.3 The Grantee's submitted invoices shall indicate the month(s) for which the State Operating
Match is being applied and the amount of FTA funds the State Operating Match is leveraging,
and the FTA grant program from which the Grantee will draw down the FTA funds.



State of New Hampshire

Department of State

CERTIFICATE

I. David M. Scanlan, Secrelary of State of the State of New Hampshire, do hereby certify that COMMUNITY ACTION

PROGRAM BELKNAP AND MERRIMACK COUNTIES, INC. is a New Hampshire Nonprofit Corporation registered

to transact business in New Hampshire on May 28, 1965.1 further certify that all fees and documents required by the Secretary of

State's office have been received and is in good standing as far as this office is concerned.

Business ID; 63021

Certificate Number: 0006194067

O

§

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF,

I hereto set my hand and cause to be affixed

the Seal of the State of New Hampshire,

this 3rd day of April A.D, 2023.

David M. Scanlan

Secretary of State



COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM
BELKNAP-MERRIMACK COUNTIES, INC.
EMPOWERING COMMUNITIES SINCE 1965

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORITY

I. Christopher J. Pvles. Chairperson. Board of Directors, hereby certify that:

1. I am a duly elected officer of Community Action Prooram Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc.

2. The following is a true copy of a vote taken at a meeting of the Board of Directors, duly called
and held on March 9. 2023. at which a quorum of the Directors were present and voting.

VOTED; That Jeanne Agh, Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director, Michael Tabory,

Chief Operating Officer/Deputy Director, Jill Lesmerises, Chief Fiscal Officer, Steven
Gregoire, Budget Analyst, Christopher J. Pyles, Chairperson, Board of Directors are duly
authorized on behalf of Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc. to enter

into contracts or agreements with the State of New Hampshire and any of its agencies or

departments and further is authorized to execute any and all documents, agreements and other

instruments, and any amendments, revisions, or modifications thereto, which may in his/her

judgment be desirable or necessary to effect the purpose of this vote.

3. I hereby certify that said vote has not been amended or repealed and remains in full force and

effect as of the date of the contract/contract amendment to which this certificate is attached. This

authority remains valid for thirty (30) days from the date of this Certificate of Authority. I further

certify that it is understood that the State of New Hampshire will rely on this certificate as evidence

that the person(s) listed above currently occupy the position(s) indicated and that they have full
authority to bind the corporation. To the extent that there are any limits on the authority of any

listed individual to bind the corporation in contracts with the State of New Hampshire, all such

limitations are expressly stated herein.

Dated: 9/26/2023 Signature of Elected Officer _
N^me: Christopher J. Pyles"^ J
Title: Chairperson, ̂Bdard of Directors

y

Rev. 3/9/2023
kin;CAPBM COA 2023

Mailing Address P.O. Box 1016, Concord, NH 03302 Administrative OfTice 2 Industnal Park Drive, Concord, NH
Phone: 603 225-3295 | 1 800 856-5525 TTY/TDD I 800 735-2964 Fax:603 228-1898

Website: capbm.org



jXCORD CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DO/YYYY)

09/25/2023

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER;-THIS

CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES

BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S). AUTHORIZED

REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER. AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.
IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder Is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the pollcy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

PRODUCER

Cross Insurance-Manchester

1100 Elm Street

Manchester NH 03101

NAME*^^ Susan Sullivan
K,.,v (603)669.3216 , (603) 64W331
adIwesS' f"arich.certs(gcrossagency.com

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC »

INSURER A
Selective Insurance Co. of SC 19259

INSURED

Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties Inc.

P.O. Box 1016

Concord NH 03302

INSURER B
Granite State Health Care and Human Services Self-

INSURER C
Federal Ins Co 20281

INSURER 0

INSURER E

INSURER F

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: 23-24 All Lines inci D&O REVISION NUMBER:

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD

INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT. TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN. THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS.

EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.
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$ 1.000.000

$5,000
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above named insured. In accordance with NH law. carrier will give 60 days advance notice of cancellation or non-renewal, except for rx)n-payment which is
10 days.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION

State of New Hampshire Dept of Transportation

7 Haren Drive

PO Box 483

Concord NH 03302

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE

THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)
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fr?® T C Dcparimcni of ihi: Ti««miry
'/TKlu 1 Ixi^ Internal Kevenu* Service

P.O. Box 2508

Cincinnati OH <i520l

In reply refer to: 02^8^59780

Oct. 02, 2008 LTR ^1680 EO

02-0270376 000000 00 000

00019992

BODC: TE

3324S

COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP &

MERRIMACK COUNTIES INC

PO BOX 1016

CONCORD NH 03302-1016167

Employer Identification Number: 02-0270376
Person to Contact: MR. PILLIS

Toll Free Telephone Number: 1-877-829-5500

Dear TAXPAYER:

This is in response to your request of Sep. 23, 2008, regarding your
tax-exempt status.

Our records indicate that a determination letter was issued in

JULY 1968, that recognized you as exempt from Federal income tax,
and discloses that you are currently exempt under section 501(c)(3)

of the Internal Revenue Code.

Our records also indicate you are not a private foundation within the

meaning of section 509(a) of the Code because you are described in
section(s) 509(a)(1) and 1 70(b)(1)(A)(vi).

Donors may deduct contributions to you as provided in section 170 of
the Code. Bequests, legacies, devises, transfers, or gifts to you or
for your use are deductible for Federal estate and gift tax purposes
if they meet the applicable provisions of sections 2055, 2106, and
2522 of the Code.

If you have any questions, please call us at the telephone number
shown in the heading of this letter.

Sincerely yours,

Michele M. Sullivan, Oper. Mgr.

Accounts Management Operations I
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Board of Directors

Community Action Program of Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Community Action Program of
Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc. (a nonprofit organization), which comprise the consolidated
statements of financial position as of February 28. 2023 and 2022, and the related consolidated
statements of activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Community Action Program of Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc. as of February 28. 2023
and 2022. and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of Community Action Program of
Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc. and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the
relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management Is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the, preparation and
fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstalement, vi/hether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Community Action Program
of Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc.'s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the
date that the consolidated financial statements are available to be issued.



Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement. whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors'

report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is riot absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards will always 'detect a material
misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional-omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.. Misslatements are considered-material if there is
a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made
by a reasonable user based on the consolidated financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government
Auditing Standards, we:

•  Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures' responsive to those
risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of Community Action Program of Beiknap-Merrimack Counties,
Inc.'s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

•  Evaluate (he appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

•  Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about Community Action Program of Beiknap-Merrimack Counties.
Inc.'s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
as a whole. The accompanying schedule of-expenditures of federal awards, as required by Title 2 U.S.
Code of Federal Regulations Part 200. Uniform Administrative Requirements. Cost Principles, and
Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a
required part of the consolidated financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The information has been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting
and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated financial
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards
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generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of
federal awards is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance vj'Wh Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September
14. 2023. on our consideration of Community Action Program of Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.'s
internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of Community Action Program
of Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in
considering Community Action Program of Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc.'s internal control over
financial reporting and compliance.

Dover, New Hampshire
September 14. 2023



COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FEBRUARY 28, 2023 AND 2022

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash

Accounts receivable

Inventory
Prepaid expenses
investments

Total current assets

PROPERTY

Land, buildings and improvements
Equipment, furniture and vehicles
Construction in process

Total property

Less acatmulated depreciation

Property, net

OTHER ASSETS

Right of use asset
Cash escrow and reserve funds

Tenant security deposits
Due from related party

Total other assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current portion of notes payable
Current portion of right of use (iabiliiy
Line of credit

Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Refundable advances

Total current liabilities

LONG TERM LIABILITIES

Notes payable, less current portion shown above
Right of use liability, less current portion shown above
Tenant security deposits

Total liabilities

NET ASSETS

Without donor restrictions

With donor restrictions

Total net assets

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

2023

1,71 1.575

6.027,912

81,569

100.225

128.956

8.050.237

7.627,214

4.762.497

132.920

12,522.631

6.165.156

6.357.475

1,387.327
77.328

8.247

61.348

1.534.250

237.926
461.162

4,550.252

1.177.337

1.817.340

8.244,017

668,146

926.165

8.221

9.846,549

5.530.452

564.961

6.095.413

2022

1.384,485

5,244.621

271;926

33.928
138.793

7.073.753

7.368,799

6.335.485
41.401

13,745,685

7.528.363

6.217.322

89.468

9,120

65.488

164.076

S 15,941,962 5 13.455,151

314,265

154,350

3,635.655

1,086.207

1,537.802

6.728.279

900,489

9,120

7.637,888

5,179,734
637,529

5.817,263

S 15,941.982 $ 13.455,151

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED FEBRUARY 28, 2023

Without Donor With Donor

Restrictions Restrictions Total

REVENUES AND OTHER SUPPORT

Grant awards

Rental income

Other funds

In-kind

United Way

Interest income

Realized loss on sale of equipment

Total revenues and other support

NET ASSETS RELEASED FROM

RESTRICTIONS

Total

EXPENSES

Program
Management

Total expenses

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS

NET ASSETS, BEGINNING OF YEAR

NET ASSETS. END OF YEAR

S 56,930.603

140,962

2,804.065

401.748

3.659

895

(36.538)

60,245.394

3.194,861

63,440.255

61,101,300
1,988.237

63,089,537

350,718

5.179,734

S  5,530.452

3.122.293

3.122.293

(3.194.861

(72,568)

637,529

S 56.930,603

140,962

5.926,358

401,748

3,659

895

(36,538)

63.367.687

(72,568) 63,367,687

61.101.300
1,988,237

63,089,537

278,150

5,817,263

564,961. S 6,095,413

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements



COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIIVtACK COUNTIES. INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2022

REVENUES AND OTHER SUPPORT

Grant awards

Rental Income

Other funds

Paycheck Protection Program Loan Forgiveness
In-kind

United Way
Interest Income

Realized gain on sale of equtpment

Total revenues and other support

NET ASSETS RELEASED FROM

RESTRICTIONS

Total

EXPENSES

Program
Management

Total expenses

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS

NET ASSETS, BEGINNING OF YEAR

NET ASSETS, END OF YEAR

Without Donor

Restrictions

With Donor

Restrictions Total

S  36.482,087

135,298

2.526,432

1,615.427

592.136

2,123

74

7.200

S

2.650.984

S  36,482,087

135,298

5.177.416

1.615.427

592,136

2,123
74

7.200

41.360.777 2.650.984 44.011.761

3.062,287 (3,062,287)

44.423,064 (411,303) 44.011,761

40.084,851
1,917,438

- 40.084,851
1.917,438

42,002,289 42.002,289

2.420,775

2.758.959

S  5,179,734

(4,11.303)

1,048,832

S  637,529

2.009,472

3.807,791

$  5,817,263

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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COMiyiUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023

Salaries and wages
Payroll taxes and benefits
Travel

Occupancy
Program services
Other costs:

Accounting fees
Legal fees
Supplies
Postage and shipping
Equipment rental and maintenance
Printing and publications
Conferences, conventions and meetings
Interest

Insurance

Membership fees
Utility and maintenance
Computer services
Other

Depreciation
In-kind

Total functional expenses

Proaram Manaaement Total

S  8.902.376 S  841,141 S 9,743,517

2.422.222 155.843 2,578.065

233.521 16.301 249.822

1.360.924- 133,139 1,494,063

44.607.205 -
44.607,205

66.194 1.959 68,153

24.793 268 25.061

289.188 38.955 328,143

45.766 - 45,766

1.540 - 1.540

41.775 15.970 57,745

13.885 - 13.885

3.991 39.049 43.040

131,454 30,788 162,242

13.298 10,283 23,581

139.247 - 139,247

71.214 - 71.214

2.298.910 139,405 2,438.315
32.049 565,136 597,185

401,748 - 401,748

$  61.101,300 S  1,988.237 S 63,089,537

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements



COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP • MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2022

Program Management Total

Salaries and wages
Payroll taxes and benefits
Travel

Occupancy
Program services
Other costs;

Accounting fees
Legal fees
Supplies
Postage and shipping
Equipment rental and maintenance
Printing and publications
Conferences, conventions and meetings
Interest

Insurance

Membership fees
Utility and maintenance
Computer services
Other

Depreciation
In-kind

Total functional expenses

7.961.177

2,296,690

194,343

1.267,982

25.639.659

15,361

159,844

49,860

'1.141

28.133
13,964

29.187

124,730

16,276
88,702
111,990

927,525

566,151
592,136

1,180.579

228,375

9.648

114,418

74.855
152

44.534

8.731

27,696

26.841

43.856

104.142

53.611

9.141.756

2.525.065

203.991

1.382,400

25.639.659

74,855

15.513

204.378

58.591

1,141

55.829
13,964

56,028

168.586

16,276

192,844

111,990

981.136
566,151
592.136

S 40.004.851 $ 1.917.438 5 42.002,289

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements



COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP ■ MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

2023 2022

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Change in net assets
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to

net cash from opierating activities:
Depreciation
Paycheck Protection program loan forgiveness
Interest on deferred financing costs
Realized loss on disposal of equipment
Decrease (increase) in current assets:

Accounts receivable

Inventory

Prepaid expenses

Due from related party
Tenant security deposits

Increase (decrease) in current liabilities:
Accounts payable

Accrued expenses
Refundable advances

278.150

597,185

483

36.538

(783,291)
190,357

(66,297)
4,140

873

914,597

91,130

279.538

2,009.472

566,151
(1,615.427)

483

(7.200)

(1,481.312)
(216,031)

39,781
(65,488)
(2,239)

■2,109.823
297.256
500,861

2,239

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 1.542,504 2,137,869

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of property
Additions to property
Investments

(773,876)
9.837

7.200
(1.141.101.)

(10.797)

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (764,039) (1.144,698)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net repayments on line of credit
Repayment of long term debt

(154,350)
(309,165)

(225.678)
(258,743)

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (463,515) (484,421)

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH 314.950 508.750

CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR 1,473,953 965,203

CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH BALANCE. END OF YEAR S 1,783,903 S 1,473.953

CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH:
Cash

Cash escrow and reserve funds

S 1 ,711.575
77,328

s 1.384,485
89,468

S 1,738.903 s 1.473.953

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:

Cash paid during the year for Interest S 43,040 . s 56,028

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Organization

Community Action Program Belknap - Merrimack Counties, Inc. (the Organization) is a
New Hampshire nonprofit organization that serves nutritional, health, living and support
needs of the low income and elderly clients in the two county service areas, as well as
state wide. These services are provided with the financial support of various federal,
state, county and local organizations.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial .statements include the accounts of Community Action
Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.. and the following entities as Community
Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc. has both an economic interest and
control of the entities through a majority voting interest in their governing board. All
significant intercompany items and transactions have been eliminated-from basic
consolidated financial statements.

■  Sandy Ledge Limited Partnership
•  CAP BMC Development Corporation

Basis of Accounting

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
accrual basis of accounting- in -accordance with the accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements of the Organization have been prepared in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, which require the
Organization to report information regarding its financial position and activities
according to the following net asset classifications:

Net assets without donor restrictions include net ̂assets that are not

subject to any donor-imposed restrictions and may be expended for any
purpose in performing, the priniary objectives of the Organization. These
net assets may be used at the discretion of. the Organization's
management and board' of directors.

Net assets with donor restrictions include net assets subject to
stipulations, imposed bydonors and grantors. Some donor restrictions are
temporary in nature; those restrictions will be met by actions of the
Organization or by passage of time. Other donor restrictions are perpetual
in nature, whereby the donor has stipulated the funds be maintained in
perpetuity.
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

Donor restricted contributions- are reported as increases in net assets with donor
restrictions. When restrictions expire, net assets are reclassified from net assets with
donor restrictions to net assets without donor restrictions in the consolidated statements

of activities.

The Organization had net assets with donor restrictions of $564,961 and $637,529 at
February 28, 2023 and 2022, respectively. See Note 14.

Income Taxes

Community Action Program of Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc. is organized as a
nonprofit corporation and is exempt from federal income taxes under Internal Revenue
Code Section 501(c)(3). The Internal Revenue Service has determined them to be other
than a private foundation.

The Organization files information returns in the United States and the State of New
Hampshire. The Organization is subject to examinations by tax authorities for three
years.

CAP BMC Development Corporation (the Corporation) is taxed as a "C" Corporation
under the Internal Revenue Code. The Corporation accounts for deferred income taxes
under the asset and liability method in accordance with Accounting Standards
Codification No. 740 (ASC 740). "Accounting for Income Taxes". The objective of this
method is to establish deferred tax assets and liabilities for temporary differences
between the financial reporting basis and the tax basis of the Company's assets and
liabilities at the enacted tax rate expected to be in effect when such amounts are
realized or settled. ASC 740 also requires deferred tax assets and liabilities to be shown
separately. There are no deferred tax assets or liabilities. The Corporation has no
federal net operating loss carryforwards available at February 28. 2023 and 2022.

Sandy Ledge Limited Partnership (the Partnership) is taxed as a partnership. Federal
income taxes are not payable, or provided by the partnership. Earnings and losses are
included in the partners' federal income tax returns based on their share of partnership
earnings. Partnerships are required to file income tax returns with the State of New
Hampshire and pay an income -tax at the state's statutory rate.

Accounting Standard Codification No. 740 (ASC 740). Accounting for. Income Taxes,
established the minimum threshold for recognizing, and a system for measuring, the
benefits of tax return positions in consolidated financial statements. The Organization
has analyzed its tax position taken on its- income tax returns for the past three years,
and has concluded that no additional provision for income taxes is necessary in the
Organization's consolidated financial statements.
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COMMUNITY ACTIQNJ

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

Property

Property and equipment is recorded at cost or, if donated, at the approximate fair value
at the date of the donation. Assets purchased with a useful life in excess of one year
and' exceeding $5,000 are capitalized unless a lower threshold is required by certain
funding sources. Depreciation is computed oh the straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of the related assets as follows:

Buildings and improvements 40 years
Equipment, furniture and vehicles 3-10 years

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements In conformity with United States
generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect certain reported ahiounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements
and the reported -amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the consolidated statements^of cash flows, the Organization considers
all liquid investments purchased with-original -maturities of three-months or less to be
cash equivalents.

The Organization maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts, which at times may
exceed federally insured limits. The Organization has not experienced any losses in
such accounts and believes it is not exposed to any significant risk with respect to these
accounts.

Contrrbutiohs
All contributions are considered to be available for unrestricted use unless specifically
restricted by the donor. Amounts received that are restricted by the donor for future
periods or for specific purposes are reported as temporarily, restricted or permanently
restricted support, depending on the nature of the restriction. However,-if a restriction is
fulfilled in the same period in which the contribution is received, the Organization reports
the support as unrestricted.

Contributed Services

Donated services are recognized as contributions in accorda.nce with 'FASB ASC No.
958, Accounting for Contributions Received and Contributions Made, if the services (a)
create or enhance non-financial assets or (b) require specialized skills, and would
otherwise be purchased by the Agency.

Volunteers provided various services throughout the year that are not-recognized as
contributions in the consolidated financial statements since the recognition criteria under
FASB ASC No. 958 were not met.

12



COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP ~

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

In-Kind Donations / Noncash Transactions

Donated facilities, services and supplies are reflected as revenue and expense in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements, if the criteria for recognition is met.
This represents the estimated fair value for the service, supplies and space that the
Organization rhight incur under normal operating activities. The Organization received
$401,748 and $592,136 in donated facilities, services and supplies for the years ended
February 28, 2023 and February 28. 2022. respectively {See Note 17).

Advertising

The Organization expenses advertising costs as they are- incurred. Total advertising
costs for the years ended February 28. 2023 and February 28. 2022 totaled $133,749
and $134,193, respectively.

Inventory

Inventory consists of weatherization supplies and work in process and is valued at the
lower of cost or net realizable value, using the first-in, first-out method.

Revenue Recognition

Amounts received from conditional grants and contracts for specific purposes are
generally recognized as income to the extent that related expenses and conditions are
incurred or met. Conditional grants received prior to the conditions being met are
reported as refundable-advances. Contributions of cash and other assets are reported
as with donor restrictions if they are received with donor imposed stipulations that limit
the use of the donated assets. However, if a restriction is fulfilled in the same period in
which the contribution is received, the Organization reports the support as without donor
restrictions.

Program Service Revenue

Program service revenue is recognized as revenue when the services are performed.

Rental Revenue

Sandy Ledge (the Partnership)-derives revenues from the rental of apartment units.
Revenues are recognized as income, monthly, when rents-become due, and control
of the apartment units is transferred to the lessees. The individual leases are for a
term of one year and are cancelable by the tenants. Control of the leased units is
transferred to the lessee in an amount that reflects the consideration the Partnership-
expects to be entitled to in exchange for the leased units. The cost incurred.to obtain
the lease will be expensed as incurred.

Functional Allocation of Expenses

The costs of providing the various programs and other activities have been presented in
the Consolidated Statements of Functional Expenses. Accordingly, certain costs have
been allocated among the progfarri services and supporting activities benefited.
Expenses are charged to each program based on the direct expenses incurred or
estimated usage based on time spent on each program by staff.

13



COMIV1U.NITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRJIVIACK COUNTIES. INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

Expense Method of allocation

' Wages and .benefits Time and effort
Depreciation Actual assets used by program
All other expenses Direct assignment

New Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting
Standards Update (ASU) 2016-02. Leases (Topic 842), to increase transparency and
comparability among organizations by recognizing lease assets and lease liabilities on
the statement of financial position and disclosing key information about leasing
■arrangements for lessees and lessors. The standard applies a right of use model that
requires, all leases with a lease term of more than 12 months, to recognize an asset
representing its right to use the underlying asset for the lease term and liability to make
lease payments to be recorded. The Organization elected not to restate the comparative
period. The Organization also elected not to reassess at adoption (i) expired or existing
contracts to determine whether they are or contain a lease, (ii) the lease classification of
any existing leases, (iii) initial direct costs for existing leases. The adoption of ASU
2016-02 resulted in the recognition of operating right of use assets of $1,387,327 and
operating right of use lease liabilities of $1,387,327 as of March 1, 2022. Results for
periods beginning prior to February 28, 2022 continue to be reported in.accordance with
the Organization's historical accounting treatment. The adoption of ASU 2016-02 did not
have a material impact on the Organization's results of operations and cash flows.

In September 2020, the FASS issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2020-
07, Not-for-profit Entities (Topic 958): Presentation and Disclosures by Not for-Profit
Entities for Contributed Nonfinancial Assets, intended to improve transparency in the
reporting of contributed nonfinancial assets, also known as gifls-in-kind, for not-for-profit
organizations. Exartiples of contributed nonfinancial assets include fixed assets such as
land, buildings, and equipment; the use of fixed assets or utilities; materials and
supplies, such as food or clothing; intangible assets; and recognized contributed
services. The ASIJ requires a not for-prbfit organization to present contributed
nonfinancial assets as a separate line item in the statement of activities, apart from
contributions of cash or other financial assets. It also requires certain disclosures for
each category of contributed nonfinancial assets recognized. The Agency adopted the
provisions of ASU 2020-07 during 2022.

2. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Accounts receivable are stated at the amount management, expects to collect from
balances outstanding at year end. Balances that are still outstanding after management
has used reasonable collection efforts are written off through a charge to the valuation
allowance and a credit to accounts receivable. The allowance for uncollectible accounts
was estimated to be zero at February 28, 2023 and 2022. The Organization has no
policy for charging interest on overdue accounts.
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ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

3. REFUNDABLE ADVANCES

Grants received in advance are recorded as refundable advances and recognized as
revenue in the period in which the related services or expenditures are performed or
incurred. Funds received in advance of grantor conditions being met aggregated
$1,817,340 and $1,537,802 as of February 28, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

4. LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY

The following represents the Organization's financial assets as of February 28:

Financial assets at year end:
Cash and cash equivalents, undesignated
Accounts receivable

Investments

Cash reserves

Cash escrow

Total financial assets

Less amounts not available to be used within one year:
Net assets with donor restrictions

Reserve funds

Arnounts not available within one year

Financial assets available to meet general
expenditures over the next twelve months

2023

1,711.575
6,027,912

128,956

74,847

2.481

7.945.771

564.961
74.847

639.808

S  7.305.963

2022

1,384,485
5.244,621

138,793

81,143

8.325

6.857.367

637.529

81.143

718.672

It is the Organization's goal to maintain financial assets to meet 60 days of operating
expenses which approximates $10,200,000 and $6,710,000, at February 28. 2023 and
2022, respectively. The Organization has a line of credit with $700,000 and-$445,650.
available to borrow on at February 28. 2023 and 2022. respectively.

5. RETIREMENT PLAN

The Organization has a qualified contributory pension plan'which covers substantially all
employees. The cost of the plan is charged to prograrns administered by the
Organization. The expense of the plan for the year ended February 28, 2023 and 2022
totaled $209,878 and Si86.976, respectively.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

6. OPERATING LEASES

On January 1, 2022. the Organization was required to adopt ASU 2016-02, Leases
(Topic 842), As part of implementing ASU 2016-02, the Organization evaluated current
contracts to determine which met the criteria of a lease. The right of use (ROU) assets
represent the Organization's right to use underlying assets for the lease term, and the
lease liabilities represent the Organization's obligation to make lease payrpents arising
from these leases. The ROU assets and lease liabilities, all of which, arise from
operating leases, were calculated based on the present value of future lease payments
over the lease terms. The Organization has elected to discount future cash flows at the
risk free borrowing rates commensurate with the lease terms, which was 1.8% at March
1. 2022. Common expenses, classified as occupancy costs in the accompanying
financial statements, are, considered a non-lease component under FASB ASC 842 and
are recognized as costs are incurred. The Organization's operating leases are
described below.

Facilities occupied by the Organization for its community service programs are leased
under various operating leases. The lease terms range from month to month' to twenty
years. For the year ended February 28, 2023 and 2022, the annual lease expense for
the leased facilities was $586,539 and $544,299, respectively.

The approximate future minimum lease payments on the above leases are as follows:

Year Ended

February 28 Amount

2024 $ 488,157

2025 287,5.90

2026 92,911
2027 82,006

2028 77,500
Thereafter 477.065

1,505,229

Less imputed' interest 117,902

Total S 1.387 327

7. ACCRUED EARNED TIME

The Organization has accrued a liability for future annual leave .time,that its employees
have earned'and vested with the employees in the amount of $691,684 and $660,158 at
February 28. 2023 and 2022, respectively. The Organization amended the policy
effective March 1, 2022. the policy allows for a maximum of 50 days to be carried over
to the next fiscal year, however, upon termination only two weeks will be paid out. The
two week liability Is $285,599 at February 28, 2023.

16



COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP -

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

8. BANK LINE OF CREDIT

The Organization has a $200,000 revolving line of credit agreement (the line) with a
bank that is due on demand. The line calls for monthly variable interest payments based
on the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate (7.75% and 3.25% at February 28, 2023 and
2022, respectively) plus 1%. but not less than 6% per annum. The line is secured by all,
the Organization's assets. There was no balance outstanding at February 28, 2023.
There was a balance of $154,350 outstanding at February 28, 2022.

The Organization had a revolving line of credit agreement (the line) in the amount of
$400,000, with a bank that is due on demand. The line called for monthly variable
interest payments based on the LIBOR rate (2.41% at February 28, 2022). the line was
secured by all the Organization's assets. There was no balance outstanding at February
28, 2022. The line was closed during the year ended "February 28, 2023.

The Organization entered into an additional revolving line of credit agreement (the line)
in the amount of $500,000, with a bank that is due on June 2, 2023. The-line calls for
monthly variable interest payrtients based on the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate (7.75%
at February 28, 2023). The line is secured by all the Organization's assets. There was
no balance outstanding at February 28. 2023.

9. CONCENTRATION OF RISK

For the year ended February 28, 2023, approximately $18,300,000 (29%), and
$32,000,000 (51%), of the Organization's total revenue was received from the
Department of Health and Human Services and the Department of Treasury,
respectively. For the year ended February 28. 2022. $13,200,000 (30%), and
$15.300,000. (35%). of the Organization's total revenue was received from the
Department of Health and Human Services and the Department of Treasury,
respectively. The future scale and nature of the Organization is dependent upon
continued support from these departments.

10. LONG TERM DEBT

Long term debt consisted of the following as of February 28:

2023 2022

5.50% note payable to a financial institution in
monthly installments for principal and interest of
$1,634 through July. 2039. The note is secured by
property of the Organization-. $ 210,560 $ 218.228
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

5.75% note payable to a financial institution in
monthly installments for principal and interest of
$13,912 through July 2023. The note is secured by
property of the Organization for Lakes Region Family
Center.

2023

71,040

2022

219.279

3.00% note payable to the City of Concord for
leasehold improvements in monthly installments for
principal and interest of $747 through May 2027. The
note is secured by property of the Organization for the
agency administrative building renovations. 35,179 42,958

7.00% note payable to a bank in monthly installments
for principal and interest of $4,842 through May 2023.
The note is secured by a first real estate mortgage
and assignment of rents and leases on property
located in Concord, New Harhpshire for Early Head
Start. 65,076 116,572

1.00% Paycheck Protection Program-loan payable to
a bank in monthly installments for principal- and
interest of $7,511 through April 2025. $1,615,427 of
the proceeds received-was forgiven during the year
ended February 28. 2022. (See Note 11). 187,615 280,439

Non-interest bearing note payable by Sandy Ledge
Limited Partnership to New Hampshire Housing
deferred until June 1, 2034 or until the project is sold
or refinanced or surplus cash is available. The note is
collateralized by a mortgage on real estate. 341.922 343.081

Total long-terpi debt before unamortized deferred
financing cost 911.392 1,220,557

Unamortized deferred financing costs :(5.320) (5.803)

Less amounts due within one year

906.072

(237.926)

1,214,754

(314.265)

Long term portion S  668.146 :

DC
O
O

00
CD
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

The scheduled maturities of long-term debt as of February 28. 2023 were as follows:

Year Ending
February 28 Amount

2024 $ 237,926

2025 106.239

2026 27,053

2027 18,294

2028 11,783
Thereafter .510.097

S  911.392

11. PAYCHECK PROTECTION PROGRAM

In April 2020, the Organization received loan proceeds in the amount of $1,935,300
under the Paycheck Protection Program ("PPP"). The PPP, was established as part of
the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act ("CARES Act").

On Septernber 14. 2021. the Organization received partial forgiveness in the amount of
$1,615,427. The forgiven proceeds are included in income for the year ended February
28, 2022. The remaining $319,873 has been converted to a loan, due in 44 monthly
payments of principal and interest at a rate of 1%. The loan will mature in April 2025.
The outstanding balance on the PPP loan at February 28, 2023 is $187,615. (See Note
10).

12. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consisted of the following as of February 28:

2023 2022

Land $  279,340 $  279,340

Building and improvements 7.347,874 7.089,459

Equipment and vehicles ■ 4.762,497 6,335,485

Construction in process 132.920 41.401

12,522,631 13.745,685
Less accumulated depreciation 6.165.156 7.528.363

Property and equipment, net $  6.357.475 S  6.217.322

Depreciation expense for the years ended February 28. 2023 and 2022 totaled

$597,185 and $566,151, respectively.
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIIVIACK COUNTIES. INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

13. CONTINGENCIES

The Organization receives grant funding from various sources. Under the terms of these
agreements, the Organization is required to use the funds within a certain period and for
purposes specified by the governing laws and regulations. If expenditures were found
not to have been made in compliance with the laws and .regulations, the Organization
might be required to repay the .funds. No provisions have been made for this
contingency because specific amounts, if any, have not been determined or assessed
as of February 28. 2023.

14. NET ASSETS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS

Net assets with donor restrictions are available for the following specific program
services as of February 28;

2023 2022

NH Food Pantry Coalition $  663 $ 663

Senior Center 142,251 143,437

Elder Services 7,317 68,427

Mary Gale 38,130 25,629

NH Rotary Food Challenge - 5,064

Summer Feeding 20,503 47,540

Caring Fund 8,793 8,792

Agency - FAP 60,913 27,307

Agency Head Start 216,604 222,258

Agency - FP/PN 69,329 87,253

Community Crisis - 350

Other Programs 458 809

Total net assets with donor restrictions S  564.961 $. 637.529

15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Organization s.erVes as the management agent for the following organizations:

Related Party

Belmont Elderly Housing, Inc.
Epsom Elderly Housing. Inc.
Alton HousingTor the Elderly, Inc.
Pembroke Housing for the Elderly; Inc.
Newbury Elderly Housing, Inc. ■

Kearsarge Elderly Housing, Inc.
Riverside Housing Corporation
Twin Rivers Community Corporation
Ozanam Place. Inc.

TRCC Housing Limited Partnership

Function

HUD Property
HUD Property
HUD Property
HUD Property
HUD'Property
HUDProperty
HUD Property

Property Development
Transitional Support Services
Low Income Housing Tax

Credit Property
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

The services performed by the Organization included, marketing, accounting, tenant
selection (for the HUD properties), HUD compliance (for the HUD properties), and"
maintenance of property.

The amount due from the related parties' for operating activities (collectively) at February
28, 2023 and 2022 was $268,293 and $324,385, respectively, and is included in
accounts receivables. Additional amounts due from related parties at February 28. 2023
and 2022 were $61,348 and 65.488, respectively.

16. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc. has also invested money
relating to its Fix-it program in certain mutual funds. The fair value of the mutual funds
totaled $128,956 and $138,793 at February 28, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

ASC Topic No. 825-10, Financial Instruments, provides a definition of fair value which
focuses on an exit price rather than an entry price, establishes a framework in generally
accepted accounting principles for measuring fair value which emphasizes that fair value is
a market-based measurement, not an entity-specific measurement, and requires
expanded disclosures about fair value measurements. In accordance with FASB ASC 820,
the Organization may use valuation techniques consistent with market, -income and cost
approaches to measure fair value. As a basis for considering market participant
assumptions in fair value measurements. FASB ASC 820 establishes a fair value
hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair values. The hierarchy gives
the highest priority to Level 1 measurements and the lowest priority to Level 3
measurements. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy under FASB ASC 820 are
described as follows;

Level 1 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices available in
active markets for identical investments as of the reporting date.

Level 2 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are other than quoted market
prices in active markets, which are either directly or indirectly observable as
of the reporting date. and. fair value can be determined through the use of
models or other valuation methodologies.

Level .3 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable.inputs in
situations where there is little or no market activity for the asset or liability
and the reporting entity makes estimates and assumptions related to. the
pricing of the asset or liability including assumptions regarding risk

At February 28, 2023 and 2022, the Organization's investments were classified as Level 1
and were based on fair value.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

Fair Value Measurements using Significant Observable Inputs (Level 1)

2023 2022

Beginning balance - mutual funds $ 138,793 $ 126,996
Total gains (losses) - mutual funds (9.837) 11.797

Ending balance - mutual funds $ 128.956 $ 138.793

The carrying amount of cash, current assets, other assets and current liabilities,
approximates fair value because of the short maturity of those instruments.

17. IN-KIND CONTRIBUTIONS/SERVICES

The Organization records the value of in-kind contributions according to the accounting
policies described in Note 1.

The fair value of gifts in kind included contributions in .the financial statements and the
corresponding program expenses for the year ended February 28, 2023, is as follows:

Volunteer hours

Head Start and Early Head Start $ 117,171
SCSEP 88,700

Rental space 146,026
Advertising 15,960
Donated goods 33.891

Total S 401.748

18. RECLASSIFICATION

Certain amounts and accounts from the prior year financial statements have been
reclassified to enhance the comparability with the presentation of the current year.

19. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Organization has evaluated subsequent events through September 14, 2023, the
date the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued.
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP-IVIERRIIVIACK COUNTIES. INC.

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023

NOTE 1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule)
includes the federal award activity of Community Action Program Belknap-
Merrimack Counties. Inc. under programs of the federal .government for the year
ended February 28, 2023. The information in this Schedule is presented in
accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations
Part 200. Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because-the Schedule
presents only a selected portion of the operations of Community Action Program
Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc., it is not intended to and does not present the
financial position, changes in net assets, or cash flows of the Organization.

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported -on the accrual basis of
accounting. Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles
contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not
allowable or are lirnited as to reimbursement. Negative amounts shown on the
Schedule represent adjustments or credits made in the normal course of
business to amounts reported as expenditures in prior years.

NOTE 3 INDIRECT COST RATE

Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc..has elected to use
the ten percent de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under the Uniform
Guidance.

NOTE 4 FOOD COMMODITIES AND VEHICLES

Nonmonetary assistance is reported in the Schedule at the fair value of the
commodities received and disbursed.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL

REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON

AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED
IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Board of Directors

Community Action Program Betknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc.

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial
statements of Community Action Progranh Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc. (a nonprofit
organization), which comprise the statement of financial position as of February 28, 2023, and
the related statements of activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the year then
ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon
dated September 14. 2023.

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Community
Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting
(internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Community Action Prpgrarn
Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.'s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an
opinion on the effectiveness of Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties,
Inc.'s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented,
or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during
our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material
weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were
not identified.
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Community Action Program
Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc.'s financial statements are free from material misstatement,
we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of taws, regulations, contracts,
and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on
the determination of the financial statements. However, providing an. opinion on compliance
with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express
such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other
matters that are required fo be reported under Government Auditing S" tandards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing; and hot to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Organization's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the
Organization's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable
for any other purpose.

Dover, New Hampshire
September 14, 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH

MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE

REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE

To the Board of Directors

Community Action Program B.elKnap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

We have audited Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.'s compliance
with the types of compliance requirements described in the 0MB Compliance Suppleinent that
could have a direct and material effect on each of Community Action Program Belknap-
Merrimack Counties, Inc.'s major federal programs for the year ended February' 28. 2023.
Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.'s major federal programs are
identified in the summary of auditors' results section of the accompanying schedule of findings
and questioned costs.

In our opinion, Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc. complied, in all
material respects, with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have
a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended February
28, 2023.

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America: the standards applicable to financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United
States: and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200,
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal
Awards (Uniform Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform
Guidance are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance
section of our report.

We are required to be independent of Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack
Counties. Inc. and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical
requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each major
federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of Community Action
Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.'s compliance with the compliance requirements
referred to above.
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Responsibilities of Management for Compliance

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the
requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant
agreements applicable to Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.'s
federal programs.

Auditors' Responsibilities for tfie Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with
the compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and
express an opinion on Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack -Counties, Inc.'s
compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a" high'level of assurance but is not
absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted In accordance
with generally accepted auditing standards, Govemment Auditing Standards, and the Uniform
Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting
material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is
considered material jf'there is a substantial likelihood that, iridividually or in the aggregate, it
would influence the-judgment made by a reasonable user-of the report on compliance about
Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.'s compliance with the
requirements of each major federal program as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Government
Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we:

•  Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit.

•  Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance. whe.ther due to fraud or error,
and design and perform audit procedures responsive tO' those risks. Such procedures
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding Community Action Program
Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.'s compliance with the compliance requirements
referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances.

•  Obtain an understanding of Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties.
Inc.'s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and .to test and .report on internal
control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the

. purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Community Action Program
Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.'s internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no
such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and any sigriificant deficiencies and
material weaknesses in. internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit.
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Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a
control over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of
performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a
type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal
control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be
prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely, basis. A significant deficiency in internal
control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in, internal control
over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe
than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit
attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in
the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed
to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these
limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in .Internal control over
compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. tHowever. material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that have
not been identified.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of
our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing, based on the
requirements of the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other
purpose.

Dover, New Hampshire
September 14, 2023
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP-MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023

SUMMARY OF AUDITORS' RESULTS

1. The auditors' report expresses an unmodified opinion on whether the financial statements
of Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc. were prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

2. No significant deficiencies relating to the audit of the financial statements are reported in
the Independent Auditors^ Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards. No material weaknesses are reported.

3. No instances of noncompliance material to the financial statements of Community Action
Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc., which would be required to be reported in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards were disclosed during the audit.

4. No significant deficiencies in internal .control over major federal award programs are
reported in the Independent Auditors' Report on Compliance for Each Major Program and
On Internal Control Over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance. No material
weaknesses are reported.

5. The auditors' report on compliance for the major federal award programs for Community
Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc. expresses an unmodified opinion on all
major programs.

6. There were no audit findings that are required to be reported in accordance with 2 CFR
section 200.516(a).

7. The programs tested as major programs include: U.S. Department of the Treasury,
Emergency Rental Assistance Program, ALN 21.023, Coronavlrus State and Local Fiscal
Recovery Funds, ALN 21.027, U.S. Department of Agriculture. Women. Infants and
Children, ALN 10.557, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Head Start, ALN
93.600, New Hampshire Public Utilities Company, Electrical Assistance Program, NON-
Federat.'

8. The threshold for distinguishing Type A and B programs was $1,822,344.

9. Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc. was determined to not be a
low-risk auditee.
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FINDINGS - FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AUDIT

None

FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAMS AUDIT

None

32



Effective 7/2023

COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM
BELKNAP-MERRIMACKCOUNTIES, INC. ̂
EMPOWERING COMMUNITIES SINCE 1965

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Chris Pyles, Chairperson
Board member since; 1/14/2021

Sara A. Lewko

Board hiember since: 2/21/2001

David Croft, Vice Chairperson
Board member since: 5/13/2021

Dennis Martino

Board member since: 2/24/2005

A. Bruce Carri, Treasurer
Board member since: 3/12/2020

Ashley Reed
MS Policy Council Chairperson
Board member since: 5/12/2022

Safiya Wazir, Secretary
Board member since: 11/2/2016 David Siff, Es.q.

Board member since: 10/2/2013

Heather Brown

Board member since: 1/15/2009

Tracy Vergason
Board member since: 5/12/2022

Current fiscal year (3/1/23 - 2/29/24) board meetings - 3/9/23, 5/25/23, 9/14/23,11/9/23,1/11/24

klhiCAPBM BOD 3 9 2023



COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM
BELKNAP-MER.RIMACK COUNT!ES, INC.
EMDOWSRIXG COMMUNITIES SINCE 1965

TRANSPORTATION SERVICES

State Operating Match Grant

SPY 2024-2025

KEY PERSONNEL

Name Job Title Salary
% Paid from

this

Contract

Amount Paid

from this

Contract

Jeanne Agri Chief Executive Officer $145,916.10 0% $0.00

Jill Lesmerises Chief Fiscal Officer $108,297.00 0% $0.00

Terri Paige Transportation Director $72,497.62 0% $0.00



Jeanne Asri

PROFESSIONAL PROFILE

Versatile and experienced leader with highly developed communicaiion skills: wriiion, verbal and prcseiUarional. Adept
in coaching and mentoring employees and colleagues as evidenced by my selection by the National Office of Head .Start to ■

serve as a mentor for new Head Stait Directors. Committed to continuous improveincnl of activities to ensure they meet

outcomes approved by the board through strategic planning, creating goal-oriented .systems and conformance with all
local, stale and federal guidance.

WORK EXPERIENCE

Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Concord, NH
Executive Director 2018-present

Assures the organization has long-range strategy which makes consistent and timely progress towards meeting
the Agencies overall mission
Responsible for the general supervision of all grant awards, ensuring that all statutory, regulatory, and /or
program and financial requirements are met, that generally accepted accounting principles are applied, and
that all program and financial policies and procedures are adhered to.

•  Provide leadership in developing programs, organizational structures and financial systems that carry out the
instructions and policies authorized by the Board
Establish sound working relationships and cooperative arrangements with community groups, organizations
and all funding sources important to the development of the agency and programs.
See that the Board Director is kept fully Informed and up to date on the condition of the organization and all
important Federal, State or local requirements impacting on the Agency and/or its programs.

Soutlicrn New Hampshire Services, Manchester, NH
Education and Nutrition Operations Director 2016 - 2018

•  Coordinate, manage and monitor workings of Child Development, Women Infant and Children, and
Literacy Programs, as well as development of an agency wide Two-Generational Approach to services

•  Formulate, improve and implement departmental and organizational policies and procedures to
maximize output. Monitor adherence to rules, regulations, and procedures
Assist in the recruitment and placement of required staff; establishment of organizational structure;
delegation of tasks and accountabilities
Supervise staff, including establishment of work schedules and monitoring and evaluating performance in
partnership with Executive Director
Assist in development of strategic plans for operational activity; implement and manage operational
plans

Director of Child Development Programs 2001 -2016
Hire, coach and evaluate the performance of Program Managers, Specialists, Coordinators, Center
Directors, Teachers and Head Start support staff

•  Provide coaching, and learning opportunities for all employees focused on promoting, supporting and
improving early development of children from the prenatal stage to five years of age using research -
based practices

Plan and implement strategic interventions with Program Managers, Specialists, Coordinators and
Center Directors for sites needing administrative support and direction
Plan, coordinate and facilitate regular leadership meetings for evaluating and strengthening systems to
maintain the highest quality of services in compliance with Head Start Performance Standards

•  Develop internal structures, systems, and policies supporting major content areas of Head Start program
including education, health, mental health, social services, parent involvement, nutrition, disabilities , and
transpoitalion



Collaborate vyilh managers and internal fiscal department in the monitoring and control of component
budgets; identification and interpretation of Head Start and community needs; conformance to the
Performance Standards and other regulatory requirements
Work in partnership with internal departments to support project goals and meet customerexpectations

•  Establish and maintain relationships and collaborations with public school districts, systems of higher
education, and other community agencies and partners

•  Ensure adequate systems in place to maintain the highest quality of services to children and families in
compliance with Head Start Performance Standards

•  Ensure consistency in service delivery across the program with attention to inclusive practices and
integration of component areas; encourage continuous improvement of systems.

Quality Assurance Director/Co-Directorfor Child Development Programs 1999-2001
•  Established and managed a robust monitoring, analysis and evaluation system with well-defined results,

milestones, and targets inclusive of Continuous Quality Improvement practices
•  Monitored for quality and compliance at Grantee and Delegate level

Worked closely with program Director to review, track and assess monitoring compliance throughout
program operations

Developed and implements a written quality assurance and performance evaluation plan in conjunction with
GoverningBoard, Policy Council

•  Interpreted and evaluated a variety of information to present it in meaningful oral or written form for
varied audiences and provide reliable analysis leading to sound decision-making

Area Manager/Education Manager 1997-1999
•  Supervision of various Child Care sites including direct supervision of Center Directors/Site Managers
•  Coordinate personal and professional development and training plans for staff and ensure leaching staff

progress towards educational requirements as supported by the Performance Standards
Documented and miminifUered both positive and negative feedback and utilize Performance
Improvement Plans when warranted.

Child Care Center Director/Site Manager I ̂ ^5 -1997
•  Supervised, mentored, coach and administered work plans and directives to staff

Communicated areas of performance improvement to staff and promote training that reflected individual
needs of staff members and the team as a whole

Ensure program compliance with codes of state and local licensing agencies and grant requirements

New Hampshire Technical College, Nashua, NH
Instructor 1995-1997

Taught Child Growth & Development and assisted in curriculum development for Early Childhood
Education Program

Planned and organized instruction to maximize documented student learning
Employed appropriate teaching and learning strategies to communicate subject matter to students
Modified, where applicable, instructional methods and strategies to meet diverse student needs

EDUCATION

Southern New Hampshire University, Manchester, NH
Master's in Business Administration June 2017

Notre Dame College, Manchester, NH
Bachelors of Arts in Elementary Education ' 1



Ji l l Lesmerises

Profile

Experienced and self-motivated Accounting Professional bringing forth over 30 years of

valuable progressive non-profit experience. Looking for an opportunity to use my non-profit

experience to help guide an organization. Areas of experience range from cash management,

bank reconciliations, accounts receivable, fixed assets, accounts payable, payroll, audit

preparation, budget preparation, monitoring subrecipients, 4036 pension compliance and audit

preparation, employee benefits, and system implementations.

Employment Experience

10/21 - Present

Chief Fiscal Officer. Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc.

CAPBM is a noc-for-profit with 25 million in revenue with 11 legal entities. The Agency has over 300

employees and holds 8 million in assets.

Oversee the daily activities of 6 fiscal staff, conduct budget meetings, prepare work papers for annual

audit for agency and 10 housing projects, manage the daily cash flow of the agency and 10 housing

projects, prepare paperwork for monitorings conducted by various funding sources, and review

accounts payable input, journal entries, accounts receivable input, and monthly billings.

10/17-12/21

Senior Accountant. Southern New Hampshire Services. Inc.

Southern New Hampshire Services is a not-for-profit with 49 million in revenue with 30 legal

entities. The Agency has over 400 employees and holds 84 million in assets,

Conduct monthly budget meetings, bill funding sources monthly, prepare work papers for

annual audit, monitor subrecipients, prepare paperwork for monitoring conducted by various

funding sources, review accounts payable input and manage daily workflow, provide backup for

accounts payable and fuel assistance payable positions, prepare surveys for various

governmental agencies, prepare ACA forms, prepare paperwork for 403B annual audit and file



5500, member and secretary of the 403B Committee, instrumental in getting PaperSave up and
running within the Fiscal Department, prepare work papers for 26 housing programs

11/02-10/17

Staff Accountant. Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.

At the time of my employment, Community AcUon Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties was a not-for-
profit with 20 million in revenue. The Agency had over 479 employees and held over 7 million in assets.

Reconciled 36 bank accounts, billed funding sources monthly, prepared work papers for annual

audit, prepared paperwork for monitoring by various funding sources, prepared and entered
journal entries, reconciled general ledger accounts, reviewed daily accounts payable input,
entered cash receipts in A/R system, provided backup for both payroll and accounts

payable/receivable positions, managed daily workflow, and trained new accounting staff

members

1/00 - 9/02

Account Supervisor (for 2 Companies). Whole Life. Inc.

Whole Life, Inc. is a not-for-profit with 6 million in revenue. The Agency had over 140 employees and

held over 4 million in assets.

Prepared monthly and quarterly reports, yearly budgets, monthly invoices, work papers, and

cost reports, prepared and entered journal entries, reconciled general ledger accounts, and

billed Medicaid

9/98 -1/00

Account Receivable Clerk (for 4 Companies). CSN Financial, Inc.

Coded cash receipts, prepared monthly invoices, and prepared accounts receivable and

revenue work papers

5/93-9/98

Assistant Controller. Biosvstems. Inc.

Collected past due accounts receivable both foreign and domestic, provided switchboard relief,
handled petty cash funds, audited salesmen expenses, cut accounts payable checks, prepared

journal entries, performed payroll functions



3/88 - 5/93

Business Officer. The Caring Community of Connecticut. Inc.

The Caring Community of Connecticut is a not-for-profit with 18 million in revenue.

Answered phones, filed correspondence, handled petty cash funds, typed correspondence,
coded cash receipts and disbursements, reconciled bank accounts, screened job applicants,
prepared work papers, and participated in administrator on-call program

Educational Background

1996-2000

Bachelor Degree in Accounting, Eastern Connecticut State University
Graduated cum laude

1992-1996

Associate Degree in Accounting, Three Rivers Community Technical College
Named to Dean's list, graduated with high honors

1981-1985

Merrimack Valley High School

Member of Nationol Honor Society, named to Honor Roll for 3 years

Volunteer Work

1/17-Present

Director on The Louden Communications Council

Council is responsible for the distribution of a monthly newspaper to the residents of Louden
and to maintain the Town of Loudon NH website. Also served as Treasurer of the Council for 2

years.



THERESA C. PAIGE, TRANSIT DIRECTOR

Professional Experience

Transportation Director July 2019 - Current
Community Action Program Belknap & Merrimack Counties, Inc.
As the Transportation Director for Community Action Program Belknap &
Merrimack Counties, Inc. (CAPBMCI) I am responsible for all aspects of
operations for Concord Area Transit, (CAT), a fixed route rural public
transportation service which is funded with a variety of federal, state,
county, and municipal funding. This funding includes: FTA 5311, and 5310
RCC grant funding through NHDOT; BEAS Title III funding; Medicaid
reimbursed rides and a variety of other grant funding. All of these funding
sources have extensive operating and reporting requirements.

In addition I am responsible for the ongoing tasks of: budgeting; employee
hiring, training and retention; marketing and community outreach; vehicle
maintenance; securing advertisers for signs on the buses; creating and
updating policies and procedures; route scheduling design; determining
eligibility for the ADA Paratransit service attached to CAT and processing
invoices for both accounts payable and accounts receivable.

I am also responsible for the operations of the Concord Senior Transit
service which is a demand response service in Concord, Penacook and
Suncook for seniors aged 60 and older and the Rural Transportation Services
(RTS) vehicles and drivers which provide demand response service to senior
aged 60 and older throughout Belmont and Merrimack counties. CAPBMCI
also runs a Volunteer Driver Program that covers all of Belknap and
Merrimack counties. I also supervise the activities of the 5310 RCC funded
Mobility Manager who provides services throughout the Mid-State RCC
region,.

Transit Director Feb 2017 - July 2019
Southwestern Community Services, Inc.
As the Transit Director for Sullivan County Transportation (SCT) I was
responsible for all aspects of operations for a rural public transportation
service which is funded with a variety of federal, state, county, and
municipal funding. This funding included: FTA 5311, and 5310 RCC grant
funding through NHDOT; BEAS Title III funding; Medicaid reimbursed rides
and a variety of other grant funding. All of these funding sources have
extensive operating and reporting requirements.



In addition I was responsible for the ongoing tasks of: budgeting; employee
hiring, training and retention; marketing and community outreach; vehicle
maintenance; securing advertisers for signs on the buses; creating and
updating policies and procedures; route scheduling design; maintaining a
FTA compliant drug & alcohol testing program and processing Invoices for
both accounts payable and accounts receivable. The transportation service is
based In Claremont NH, with three flex route systems that run in Claremont,
Charlestown and Newport. There is also a Demand Response "DIal-A-Ride"
service that runs in the larger Claremont area. SCT also runs a Volunteer
Driver Program that covers all of Sullivan County.

Independent Contractor July 2013 - Current
RLS & Associates, Inc.
I Provide training on a variety of transit-relating topics, including Passenger
Assistance and Refresher, Emergency Procedures, and Defensive Driving.

Associate and RTAP Liaison Nov 2013 - Feb 2017

RLS & Associates, Inc.

I was the In-state Program Liaison and lead trainer for the New Hampshire
and Massachusetts RTAP Programs. As lead trainer I instructed in a variety
of DOT required training areas including: Passenger Assistance and
Refresher; Emergency Procedures; Defensive Driving; Pre-Trip Inspections;
Drug & Alcohol Reasonable Suspicion Referral and several customer service
based topics. I scheduled all trainings and coordinated with RLS contracted
trainers to ensure that required trainings were available at regional training
sites throughout New Hampshire and Massachusetts. In addition I was
responsible for state DOT technical assistance compliance reviews for FTA
Drug and Alcohol programs in NC, WI, VA, and NH and several 5311 DOT
compliance reviews in NH.

I served as interim transportation director for Southwestern Community
Services, Inc. in 2016 when they agreed to take on the responsibility for the
only public transportation service in Sullivan County. This service had been
abruptly shut down when another social service provider in the region
ceased operations. In this transitional position I provided all of the
traditional management activities of a transit manager as well as the
additional responsibilities of repairing community relationships and
improving the service Image.

Regional Transportation Coordinator Sep 2013 - Nov 2013
Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.
•  Responsible for assisting the Mid-State Regional Coordinating Council

with collaborative Initiatives that enhance transportation options In the
Mid-State region.



•  Performed outreach activities to engage stakeholders and educate the
public.

•  Served as the liaison to state and local transit groups.

•  Facilitated transportation coordination among public, private, and
volunteer transit providers and stakeholders to enhance options for
consumers.

•  Marketed transportation services available to the Mid-State Region
residents.

•  Organized and completed local and regional needs assessments to
identify unmet transportation needs.

•  Reviewed barriers to transportation in the Mid-State Region and made
recommendations to resolve issues.

•  Assisted with organizing and carrying out the activities of the Mid-
State RCC sub-committees. Assisted with the facilitation of meetings
as assigned.

Mobility Manager Sept 2010 - Sep 2013
Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.
•  Promoted, enhanced and facilitated access to transportation services,

including integration and coordination of services for individuals with
disabilities, older adults, individuals with low English proficiency, low
income individuals and the general public.

•  Provided coordinated services to human service organizations,
including individualized travel training and trip planning activities for
customers.

•  Advocated and promoted the use of the WTS, CAT, and RTS transit
systems with the general public, the business community, and human
service organizations.

•  Researched, secured, and managed grant funding and donations to
support transportation services.

•  Maintained close working relationships with all passenger transit
providers in the region to improve ride referrals and collaboration of
existing resources.

• Worked to improve access to jobs and employment support services
by identifying and reducing barriers preventing use of transportation.

•  Assisted in the development of transportation resources information
including, but not limited to, bus schedules, resource manuals,
brochures. Web pages, and signage improvements.

•  Presented transportation resource information at community events
and conferences.

•  Conducted outreach to community organizations to identify unmet
needs.



•  Provided monthly training to transportation staff on topics including
customer service, disability awareness and dealing with difficult
passengers.

Independent Living Services Director Jan 2002 - Aug 2010
Granite State Independent Living
•  Responsible for the supervision and day to day activities of the

Independent Living Services case management program. These
services included peer support and counseling, skills training, and
advocacy.

•  Responsible for the overall management of the Home
Access/Modifications, Adaptive Equipment program, funded by grants
and individual donations.

•  Developed and managed a travel training initiative to assist individuals
with disabilities gain better access to public transportation.

•  Provided disability awareness, people first language, and customer
service trainings to staff, community groups and transit providers.

•  Secured funding for new and on-going programs, including grant
writing and reporting.

•  Supervised, coached, and evaluated a service delivery staff comprised
of diverse personalities, (including staff located off-site), assuring the,
quality and consistency of services which were provided.

•  Promoted the use of GSIL services through outreach, to the general
public, other service providers and professionals. Supervised the
development of brochures, presentation materials and other tools to
assist with outreach efforts.

•  Developed new services in response to needs evidenced in the market
place. Assessed the needs of the community, and conducted an annual
evaluation of consumer satisfaction with services.

•  Responsible for the preparation of quarterly and annual reports and
budgets.

Financial Case Manager
MIMS/Community and Vocational Outreach Worker 1996 -2001
White Mountain Mental Health and DD Services

•  Assessed financial needs of individuals and assisted them in

enhancing, securing, and maintaining State and Federal benefits.
•  Served as a resource for other program staff handling benefits for

consumers.

•  Maintained personally supportive relationships with individuals and
their families, without encouraging unnecessary dependence.

•  Interfaced effectively with community supports on behalf of the client.



•  Coordinated and implemented treatment plans for mental health
consumers and their families.

•  Resolved routine client needs and problems in the community
independently.

EDUCATION

Certified Community Transit Manager (CCTM) through CCTA
Certified in Advanced Mobility Device Securement through the National
Transit Institute

Certified in Comprehensive ADA Paratransit Eligibility through the
National Transit Institute

Certified in Advanced Practices in Paratransit Service through Easter
Seals Project Action
Certified as Lead Trainer through Q'Staint
Certified as FTA Drug & Alcohol Reasonable Suspicion Referral
Supervisor
Certified Master Gardener through the UNH Cooperative Extension and
active presenter for the Master Gardener Speakers Bureau
Course work in Human Services Springfield College, Manchester, NH
(2002-04) and New Hampshire Community Technical College (1997-
2001)


